WHITE 1992 CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By-

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 79,165

FIBREBOARD CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

SAMUEL KERNESS and BLANCHE KERNESS, his wife,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

no appendix Regulated

BLAIRE & COLE, P.A. Suite 550 2801 Ponce de Leon Blvd. Miami, Florida 33134 - and -LOUISE H. MCMURRAY, P.A. Suite 226 1430 North Kendall Drive Miami, Florida 33176

Attorneys for Appellant Fibreboard Corporation

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a petition for discretionary review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which certified as of great public concern the following question:

> In an asbestos case, is the applicable long-arm statute that which was in effect when the plaintiff's cause of action accrued, or that which was in effect when the asbestos-containing products were manufactured and/or distributed?

The panel decision in which the foregoing question was certified affirmed the trial court's denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction for a cause of action arising out of business transacted in another state prior to 1962. The facts of the case are as follows:

Plaintiffs, DANIEL KERNESS and BLANCHE KERNESS, his wife, (hereafter the Kernesses), filed suit against fourteen corporations, claiming damages for an asbestos-related disease allegedly contracted after several different periods of occupational exposure as a painter in 1 New York. R.3. All exposure ended in 1962. R.6.

The Kernesses alleged that petitioner Fibreboard manufactured or distributed asbestos-containing products to which Mr. Kerness was exposed in Brooklyn between 1943 and

References to the record below are indicated "R.#." Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis is added.

1945. R.6,17,20-22. Fibreboard is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in California. R.4. Fibreboard moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction on the grounds that, even if Fibreboard were doing business in Florida (which it denies), the only pre-1962 long-arm statute alleged to support jurisdiction, Section 48.181, Fla.Stat., creates jurisdiction only for causes of action arising out of in-state business. No such connexity was pleaded.

2

Plaintiffs argued in response that Fibreboard had previously done business in Florida, and had sold asbestos-containing products in Florida. Such "facts" were not alleged in the complaint but were based on discovery from other proceedings: a three-page deposition excerpt of Walter Heape; a two-page deposition excerpt of Robert Barsh; and invoices purportedly showing shipments of products to a shipyard in Jacksonville, Florida. R.49-58. The deposition testimony was limited to the naming of products purportedly containing asbestos which the deponents claimed to have used in Duval County, Florida. R.51,55. The invoices represent shipment of products of another company not associated with this proceeding, Armstrong Cork. R. 57-58.

2

Allegations to date, place, and exposure to specific products were made by attaching answers to standard interrogatories to the complaint.

Judge Fuller denied the motion. R.46. An interlocutory appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal ensued. That court recognized that section 48.181, Fla.Stat. "required that a plaintiff demonstrate that the cause of action arose from doing business in Florida, or that the cause of action has some other connection to a specified act committed in Florida". R.82. Nevertheless, the district court affirmed denial of the motion on the basis that the action "accrued" after the effective date of Section 48.193 Fla.Stat. (1989), so that statute may be applied to create jurisdiction over Fibreboard. The court further reasoned:

> It is clear that section 48.193, Florida Statutes, cannot be applied retroactively to extend jurisdiction over a foreign corporation. Conley v. Boyle Drug Co., 570 So.2d 275, 288 (Fla. 1990); Public Gas Co. v. Weatherhead, 409 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1982). However, such retroactive application does not occur when a cause of action accrues after the effective date of section 48.193. See, American Motors Corp. v. Abrahantes, 474 So.2d 271, 274 (Fla.3d.DCA 1985) (long-arm statute to be applied is one in existence at time cause of action accrued); Utility Trailer Manuf. Co. v. Corrett (sic), 526 So.2d 1064 (Fla.1st.DCA) (same), rev.denied, 534 So.2d 398 (Fla. 1988). Federal courts have also consistently applied this theory in Florida asbestos cases. See, e.g.., Geisinger v. Fibreboard Corp., No.90-0872 (S.D. Fla.) (order dated Apr. 1, 1991); Citron v. Armstrong World Indus., No.89-1375 (S.D.Fla.) (order dated July 30, 1990); In Re.: Asbestos Litigation, 679 F.Supp. 1096 (S.D. Fla. 1988).

An action accrues when an injury is or should have been discovered. <u>Celotex Corp.</u> <u>v. Meehan</u>, 523 So.2d 141, 145 (Fla. 1988). Kerness's asbestos-related disease was

3

3

diagnosed in 1989 after the effective date of Section 48.193, and connexity is not required. Accordingly, the trial court has jurisdiction over Fibreboard even though Kerness's illness was allegedly caused by Fibreboard's products used in New York.

Appellant claims that <u>Conley</u>, <u>supra</u>, is dispositive of the issue in this case. We disagree and certify this question to the Supreme Court as one of great public concern: In an asbestos case, is the applicable long-arm statute that which was in effect when the plaintiff's cause of action accrued, or that which was in effect when the asbestos-containing products were manufactured and/or distributed? Affirmed.

R. 83-84. Fibreboard timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction under Rule 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(v), Fla.R.App.P.

II.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the Third District conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>Conley</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Gordon v. John</u> <u>Deere Co.</u>, 264 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1972); <u>Public Gas Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>; and <u>AB CTC v. Morejon</u>, 324 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1975). It fails to apply the rule announced in those cases, that the long-arm statute in effect at the time of an alleged wrongful act governs the assertion of jurisdiction over nonresident defendants. This ruling is also in conflict with First and Fourth District Court of Appeal decisions

Petitioner does not concede that the cause of action accrued in 1989.

4

applying this Court's rule that the date of alleged wrongful act governs the applicability of long-arm statutes.

Instead, it applies a new rule apparently fashioned solely for application in asbestos cases, that the issue of long-arm jurisdiction in asbestos cases will be governed by the statute in effect when the plaintiff claims disease is diagnosed. Fibreboard submits the ruling has been induced by a confusion of logic and language appearing in the decisions cited by the Third District in its opinion. Although some correctly dismissed complaints for lack of personal jurisdiction where the cause of action had accrued before the effective date of the long-arm statute, the Third District improperly created a converse rule in the instant case: that a long-arm statute may be applied to causes of action accruing after its effective date, without regard to whether the wrongful act giving rise to the injury occurred prior thereto.

In fashioning this converse rule, and ignoring controlling Supreme Court decisions, the Third District exceeded its constitutional authority. It should have applied the rule articulated by this Court, and certified

It should be noted that in light of Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc. v. Cox, 481 So.2d 517 (Fla.3rd.DCA 1985) (plaintiff suing for damages for contracting asbestosis not barred from later suit for cancer), the Third District might apply different statutes to the same defendant if a plaintiff sued for asbestosis, then later for cancer.

the question based upon its perception that a different rule should obtain in what it calls "asbestos cases".

Finally, the instant decision raises grave doubts about the constitutionality of 48.193. Due process requires a similar threshold of some "connexity" between the cause of action alleged and a putative nonresident defendant's activities in the forum state. To the extent that section 48.193 would be construed by this decision to create jurisdiction where the cause of action alleged is totally unrelated to any alleged in-state activities, the constitutionality of that statute is impaired. Second, this court has stated that long-arm statutes create new remedies; they may thus not be applied to wrongful acts that occurred before their passage. Appellate courts have determined that ruling otherwise would create "grave doubts" about constitutionality of long-arm statutes. The decision of the Third District thus runs afoul of the Florida and the United States Constitutions.

III.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Fibreboard respectfully submits that when this Court accepts jurisdiction, it may resolve all questions in order to achieve the most complete resolution of the cause. Two issues are therefore submitted on this petition for discretionary review. If acknowledgement is given to the existence of this Court's pre-Conley cases on choice of

long-arm statute, the question certified by the Third District may also be posed in the alternative phrasing

suggested:

I. IN AN ASBESTOS CASE, IS THE APPLICABLE LONG-ARM STATUTE THAT WHICH WAS IN EFFECT WHEN THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION ACCRUED OR THAT WHICH WAS IN EFFECT WHEN THE ASBESTOS-CONTAINING PRODUCTS WERE MANUFACTURED AND/OR DISTRIBUTED?

or:

I. SHOULD THE RULE GOVERNING APPLICABILITY OF LONG-ARM STATUTES THAT WAS ARTICULATED IN AB CTC, GORDON, PUBLIC GAS, AND CONLEY BE ABANDONED AND A NEW RULE CREATED FOR USE ONLY IN "ASBESTOS CASES", SO AS TO EXPAND THE ASSERTION OF JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANTS CHARGED PECULIARLY WITH NEGLIGENCE RELATED TO ASBESTOS-CONTAINING PRODUCTS?

and:

II. MAY 48.193 CONSTITUTIONALLY CREATE SPECIFIC JURISDICTION IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY ALLEGATIONS OF LITIGATION-RELATED MINIMUM CONTACTS?

IV

ARGUMENT

For the reasons that follow Fibreboard respectfully submits that the certified question should be answered by directing that the applicable long-arm statute is that which was in effect at the time of the wrongful act alleged, that is the alleged negligent manufacture and/or distribution. Additionally, personal jurisdiction may not constitutionally be asserted over a nonresident defendant for a cause of action alleged to be unrelated to any in-state activities.

A. THE APPLICABLE LONG-ARM STATUTE IS THAT IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF THE WRONGFUL ACT ALLEGED; NO SPECIAL RULE GOVERNING PERSONAL JURISDICTION SHOULD BE ADOPTED FOR DEFENDANTS CHARGED

WITH NEGLIGENCE IN THE SALE, DISTRIBUTION, OR HANDLING OF ASBESTOS-CONTAINING PRODUCTS. - Point I.

This court has repeatedly articulated the rule that the long-arm statute which governs jurisdiction over nonresident defendants is that which is in effect at the time the alleged wrongful act is committed.

In <u>Gordon, supr</u>a, a complaint claiming damages for injuries received in an accident occurring on July 19, 1965, was filed in July of 1969, and sought to apply Section 48.182 (1970). The district court granted a motion to quash service under 48.182. It explained that

> ...an amended statute could not be considered procedural and could not operate retrospectively when there was no pre-existing remedy, either because there was no previous method of service provided, or because the method of service differed.... F.S. Section 48.182, F.S.A... does not operate in furtherance of a pre-existing remedy, but rather operates to create a new remedy. Thus it falls within the proscription against retrospective operation.

Gordon v. John Deere Co., 320 F.Supp. 293, 295 (N.D.Fla.

1972). It thereupon certified to this court the question:

Whether or not Florida Statutes, Section 48.182 (1970), applies retroactively to allow service under its provisions as to an alleged wrongful act committed prior to enactment of the Statute.

<u>Id.</u> This Court ruled that the applicable statute was that in effect at the time of the wrongful act alleged. It approved the district court's reasoning, and noted that the district decision had been followed in <u>Robert E. Marx, Inc.</u> <u>v. Scarney, 253 So.2d 722 (Fla.3rd.DCA 1971).</u> See, also,

Tako v. Mayer Rothkopf Ind., Inc., 388 So.2d 1092 (Fla.3rd.DCA 1980).

In <u>AB CTC</u>, <u>supra</u>, a defective product was sold before 1970, injury occurred in 1971, and the long-arm statute relied upon took effect in 1970. Morejon's contention was that "Since the statute became effective in 1970 and the injury occurred in 1971... the statute was not being applied retroactively in violation of this court's decision in <u>Gordon v. John Deere, Co.</u>," 324 So.2d at 628. This court disagreed:

> In <u>Gordon v. John Deere Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court held that Fla.Stat. Sec. 48.182, enacted in 1970 and having an effective date of July 1, 1970, could not be applied retroactively to allow service under its provisions as to an alleged wrongful act committed prior to the enactment of the statute.

> Since the breach of warranty occurs when tender of delivery is made, and since the tender of delivery of the washing machine occurred prior to the enactment of the statute and prior to its effective date, the use of Sec. 48.182 to obtain jurisdiction over the petitioner would be retroactive, in violation of this Court's holding in <u>Gordon</u> V. John Deere Co., supra.

324 So.2d at 627-628. Nevertheless this Court specifically noted that even though the wrongful act in a breach of contract action occurs at tender of delivery of defective goods, accrual of the cause of action must await plaintiff's discovery of the breach. 324 So.2d at 628.

In <u>Public Gas Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, a district court of appeal determined that 48.182 was not available in an action

5

for injuries arising from an allegedly defective product that had been manufactured prior to the statute's effective $\frac{5}{5}$ date. This Court affirmed.

In <u>Conley</u>, this type of "accrual" argument was explicity addressed again. The deleterious substance there involved, DES, only causes injury years after its use, in the daughters of its users. If special considerations relating to such delay should move the court to relax the choice of long-arm statute rules, this Court had the opportunity to do so in that case. Conley urged that the court should rule that 48.193 may be applied when the cause of action "accrued" (injury occurred) after the statute's effective date.

This Court acknowledged, in discussing the issue presented by the petition for review, that such concerns are given some accommodation in determining the applicability of a statute of repose. Nevertheless, this Court reaffirmed on the cross-petition for review that neither 48.193 nor its predecessor 48.182 may be applied retroactively as to an alleged wrongful act committed prior to enactment of the statute, stating:

This court has consistently held that neither section 48.193 nor its predecessor 48.182,

This decision does not address the "accrual" argument, presumably because it was not raised again. However, the case fits the same chronology of enactment of a long-arm statute before date of injury.

which became effective in 1970, can be applied retroactively to allow service under its provisions as to an alleged wrongful act committed prior to the enactment of the statute.

570 So.2d at 288.

In the instant case, the alleged wrongful acts occurred prior to amendment of 48.193 in 1984, its enactment in 1973, or its predecessor's enactment in 1970. The instant decision fails to adhere to the decisions of this Court, for the complaint brings the case squarely within these rulings. The decision also ignores, and conflicts with, decisions of the First, Fourth, and Fifth Districts applying the rule as articulated by this Court. Hunter v Challenge Machinery Co., 481 So.2d 986 (Fla.5th.DCA 1986), rev.denied, 491 So.2d 279 (Fla. 1986) (48.193 inapplicable, washing machine manufactured in 1957); Peabody v. International Corp. v. Wylain, Inc., 467 So.2d 481 (Fla.5th.DCA 1985)(48.193 inapplicable, defective part manufactured in 1966, injury in 1977); Nicolet v. Benton, 467 So.2d 1046 (Fla.1st.DCA 1985); Astra v. Colt Industries Operating Corp., 452 So.2d 1031 (Fla.4th.DCA 1984) (48.193 inapplicable, gun manufactured and sold in 1960's); Griffis v. J. C. Penney Company, 333 So.2d 503 (Fla.1st.DCA 1976) (48.193

6

The Kernesses alleged jurisdiction under 48.193 or 48.181. They did not assert applicability of 48.182. The provisions of that statute are thus not relevant to the instant decision.

inapplicable, fondue pot sold 1972, injury 6 months after effective date of statute).

Instead, the Third District relies upon five decisions, two decisions of other district courts and three federal trial court rulings, for the proposition that a long-arm statute in effect at the time of injury, or "accrual" of the cause of action, may govern the assertion of personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants.

However, the two Florida appellate decisions relied upon, <u>American Motors</u> and <u>Utility Trailer</u>, do not address whether the long-arm statute in effect when the alleged wrongful act occurred should govern, rather than the statute in effect when the injury occurred. The Third District implicitly acknowledges this by use of the signal "See".

In <u>American Motors</u>, a Jeep CJ-5 was involved in an accident in 1981. The injured passenger filed suit in 1983, dismissed, then refiled in 1984, seeking to base personal jurisdiction on the expanded 48.193 that took effect mid-1984. Judge Jorgenson opined that 48.193 cannot be applied to causes of action that "accrued" before its effective date. That would be retroactive application and would raise "grave doubts" about the statute's constitutionality under the state and federal constitutions. 474 So.2d. at 273, 274, note 6. <u>Utility Trailer</u> involved a worker's injury caused by a fall from a bumper of a trailer unit in 1982. The complaint was filed after the effective date of 48.193 (1984). Dismissal

was affirmed because application of the statute would be retroactive. The court relied upon the <u>American Motors</u> rule that 48.193 can not apply to causes of action "accruing" before its effective date, and reiterated concern that any other rule would raise "grave doubt" about constitutionality of the statute. 526 So.2d at 1068.

American Motors and Utility Trailer achieve a correct result. Causes of action accruing before the effective date of a long-arm statute are clearly predicated on wrongful acts that occurred prior to that date. The Kernesses and the Third District wrongly posit a proposition derived by converting and obverting this correct proposition - that if the cause of action "accrued" after the effective date of the long-arm statute, the statute may be properly applied without regard to when the wrongful acts alleged as giving rise to the cause of action occurred, i.e., that application of the 7

7

The <u>American Motors</u> rule, a correct universal negative proposition is: no cause of action accruing before the effective date of a long-arm statute is subject to that statute, or "No S is P" in logician's shorthand. The invalid "contrapositive" of that statement is "No non-P is non-S," or, no cause of action not subject to a long-arm statute is a cause of action not accruing before the statute's effective date. Logicians recognize that the contrapositive of a universal negative is invalid. Case-law also demonstrates the invalidity of this contrapositive, for the existence of just one case not falling within the statement disproves its validity. One such case is <u>AB CTC</u>. It presented a cause of action not subject to 48.182, yet it (Footnote Continued)

The three federal trial decisions demonstrate a similar logical confusion. Judge Nesbitt's decisions in <u>In</u> <u>Re: Asbestos Litigation</u>, 679 F.Supp 1096 (S.D.Fla 1988), and <u>Citron v. Armstrong World Industries</u>, No. 89-1375 (S.D.Fla.) (July 30, 1990), are pre-Conley. They rely upon Judge Paine's language in <u>Wildenberg v. Eagle-Picher Ind.</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 645 F.Supp. 29 (S.D.Fla. 1986) which shows the same faulty logic. In <u>Wildenberg</u>, Judge Paine suggested that the date of accrual is dispositive by stating that 48.193 applies to causes of action accruing after its effective date. Judge Paine has since articulated and applied the correct rule in <u>Granius v. Armstrong World Ind., Inc.</u>, 87-6589 (S.D.Fla. April 11, 1989) (Paine, J.).

Judge Spellman, author of <u>Geisinger v. Fibreboard</u> <u>Corp.</u>, No. 90-0872 (S.D.Fla.) (April 1, 1991) earlier applied the correct rule in <u>Rogers v. Firestone Tire and Rubber Co.</u>, 599 F.Supp. 676 (S.D.Fla. 1984) (long-arm statute may not be retroactively applied to wrongful act that occurred prior to its passage).

(Footnote Continued) was a cause of action that did not accrue before the effective date of 48.182. In fact, <u>Conley</u> and <u>Public Gas</u> also involved causes of action not accruing before the statutes' effective dates.

8

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