IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 79,165

FIBREBOARD CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

VS.

SAMUEL KERNESS AND BLANCHE KERNESS,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVID M. LIPMAN

DAVID M. LIPMAN, P.A.

5901 S.W. 74 Street Suite 304 Miami, Florida 33143-5186 (305) 662-2600

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS SAMUEL AND BLANCHE KERNESS

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

Judge Moreno has reached a contrary result in <u>Glasser v.</u> <u>Fibreboard</u>, No. 90-1980-CIV-MORENO (S.D. Fla.), on appeal, No. 91-5517 (11th Cir.) (Order of June 3, 1991) (applying <u>Conley</u> to require application of long-arm statute at time of manufacturing or distribution).

By Order of March 10, 1992, the Eleventh Circuit has held in abeyance resolution of the <u>Glasser</u> appeal "[p]ending a decision of the Supreme Court of Florida in the case of <u>Fibreboard Corp.</u> v. Kerness, No. 79,165."

that by excluding defendants who were not in the market that could have produced the product. 10/

In this case, different considerations exist. Mr. and Mrs. Kerness have not sought to impose liability against Fibreboard under a market share theory. It is alleged and can be proven that Mr. Kerness was exposed to Fibreboard's products which were sold not only in Brooklyn where he was exposed, but also simultaneously in Florida. Thus, the application of a long-arm statute at the time of manufacturing which was recognized in Conley should be inapplicable in an asbestos case with an identifiable defendant in which the cause of action accrues at the time of diagnosis, not at the time of manufacture of the products. 11/

B. ALTERNATIVELY, EVEN IF CONLEY DOES REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF THE PRIOR LONG-ARM STATUTE IN EFFECT AT THE TIME THE ASBESTOS-CONTAINING PRODUCTS WERE MANUFACTURED OR DISTRIBUTED, THE CONNEXITY REQUIREMENT OF 48.181 IS SATISFIED SINCE FIBREBOARD'S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES IN FLORIDA PARALLEL ITS OUT OF STATE ACTIVITIES WHICH CAUSED PLAINTIFF'S ILLNESS

This Court in <u>Davis v. Pyrofax Gas Corp.</u>, 492 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1986), rejected a restrictive analysis of connexity

(footnote continued to next page)

^{10/} Market share liability has been expressly rejected by this Court in asbestos injury cases where, as in this case, identification of an asbestos product can be made. <u>Celotex Corp.</u> v. Copeland, 471 So.2d 533, 537-539 (Fla. 1985).

^{11/} It is well-established, and recognized by this Court, that the cause of action accrues in an asbestos-related injury upon

adopted by several Florida appellate courts with regard to pre1984 §48.193. 12/ In the event that this Court extends <u>Conley</u>
v. Boyle Drug Co., beyond the market share context, interpretation of the connexity requirement of §48.181 must be made. 13/

(footnote 11 continued)

the diagnosis of an asbestos-related disease. <u>Celotex v. Meehan</u>, 523 So.2d 141, 145 (Fla. 1987); <u>Eagle-Picher Industries v. Cox</u>, 481 So.2d 517, 527-28 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986). Using the date of diagnosis, the applicable statute in this case would be §48.193(2), in effect in 1989. As discussed, the current §48.193 long-arm statute does not require connexity.

12/ The First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal had taken a restrictive approach to connexity requiring that a plaintiff be injured by the actual defective product that the defendant corporation introduced into Florida commerce, not simply by a similar product brought to Florida by plaintiff himself.

Nicolet, Inc. v. Benton, 467 So.2d 2046 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (requiring Florida-based exposure in asbestos cases); General Tire and Rubber Co. v. Hickory Springs Mfg. Co., 388 So.2d 264 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Fibreboard continues to rely upon Nicolet. See, Pg. 11, Initial Brief on the Merits.

This restrictive interpretation of connexity has been squarely rejected by the more recent Florida Supreme Court decision in <u>Davis v. Pyrofax Gas Corp.</u>, 492 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1986). <u>See</u>, <u>infra</u>, Pg. 20, n. 15.

13/ Both parties apparently agree that when this Court accepts jurisdiction, it should resolve all questions in order to achieve the most complete resolution of this appeal and is not limited to the actual question certified by the appellate court below. See, Pg. 6, Fibreboard's Initial Brief on the Merits; Id., Pgs. 18-22 (raising constitutional argument not raised in the certified question posed by the Third District); Zirin v. Pfizer Co., 128 So. 2d 594, 596-597 (Fla. 1981) ("It is not the question of great public interest in a decision that we are concerned with but the decision that passes upon such a question.") (emphasis in original); Reed v. State, 470 So.2d 1382, 1383 (Fla. 1985) (scope of review encompasses the decision of the court below, not, merely on the certified question); Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1983) ("Once an appellate court has jurisdiction it may, if it finds it necessary to do so, consider any item that may affect the case.").

Resolution of the connexity issue would serve to achieve a full determination of the issues raised in this case.

1. THE CONNEXITY HOLDING IN DAVIS
ADDRESSING PRE-AMENDED §48.193
IS EQUALLY APPLICABLE TO THIS
§48.181 CASE

Central to our position is that the connexity requirement of pre-amended §48.193 interpreted in <u>Davis</u> is interchangeable and identical to §48.181. The basis for this conclusion—that connexity under pre-amended §48.193 and §48.181 is the same—is severalfold.

First, Florida appellate courts have recognized that the connexity requirement under the pre-amended §48.193 is the same standard as §48.181. Indeed, the judicial interpretation of what is required is proving connexity under pre-amended §48.193 is identical to the connexity requirement embedded within the §48.181 statute.

The Third District in <u>Kravitz v. Gebrueder Pletscher Druck-Gasswaremfabrik</u>, 442 So.2d 985, 987 n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) in judicially defining pre-amended §48.193 (1)(f)(2) stated:

"Connexity" refers to the requirement that the cause of action arise out of a transaction or operation connected with or incidental to the activities of the foreign corporation in Florida. (emphasis added) (citation omitted)

The previous long-arm statute, §48.181(1), in effect prior to July 1, 1970 provided the identical standard defining connexity:

The acceptance by any person or persons, individually or associated together as a copartnership or any other form or type of association, who are residents of any other state or country, and all foreign corporations, and any person who is a resi-

dent of the state and who subsequently becomes a nonresident of the state or conceals his whereabouts, of the privilege extended by law to nonresidents and others to operate, conduct, engage in, or carry on a business or business venture in the state, or to have an office or agency in the state, constitutes an appointment by the persons and foreign corporations of the Secretary of State of the state as their agent on whom all process in any action or proceeding against them, or any of them, arising out of any transaction or operation connected with or incidental to the business or business venture may be served. The acceptance of this privilege is signification of the agreement of the persons and foreign corporations that the process against them which is so served is of the same validity as if served personally on the persons or foreign corporations. (emphasis added)

Second, courts have interpreted §48.181 and pre-amended §48.193 interchangeably. American Motors Corp. v. Abrahantes, 474 So.2d 271, 273 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) ("Prior to the 1984 amendments, both §§48.181 and 48.193 required that there be a "connexity" between the cause of action and defendant corporation's activities in Florida." (citations omitted) (emphasis supplied)); Utility Trailer Mfg. Co. v. Cornett, 526 So.2d 1064, 1066 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) ("prior to the amendment of §48.193... for long-arm jurisdiction to attach under either that enactment or §48.181, it was necessary that there be connexity...") (emphasis supplied); Bloom v. A.H. Pond Co., Inc., 519 F. Supp. 1162, 1168 n.3 (S.D. Fla. 1981) ("since [48.193] is not materially different from [48.181] with respect to jurisdiction based upon business contacts with the state, the restrictive Florida approach is equally applicable no matter which jurisdictional basis is invoked." (citation omitted) (emphasis added); White v. Pepsico, 568 So.2d 886, 889 n.4 (Fla. 1990) (defining connexity

and citing cases interchangeably involving both §48.181 and pre-amended §48.193).

2. CONNEXITY UNDER DAVIS IS SATISFIED IF A DEFENDANT'S BUSINESS ACTIVITY IN FLORIDA PARALLELED ITS OUT OF STATE ACTIVITIES THAT LED TO A PLAINTIFF'S INJURY IN FLORIDA

In <u>Davis</u>, this Court ruled that if a defendant's business activities in Florida paralleled its out of state activities that led to a plaintiff's injury in Florida, connexity is satisfied and thus jurisdiction is achieved. <u>Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, 492 So.2d at 1046. 14/

The Court in <u>Davis</u> rejected a restrictive analysis of connexity adopted by several appellate courts with regard to §48.193 (pre-1984 amendment and therefore containing the identical connexity requirement as §48.181). Instead, the Court held essentially that if a defendant's business activities in Florida paralleled its out of state activities that led to a plaintiff's injury in Florida, a Florida court has jurisdiction over a subsequent suit:

This Court answered the question in the affirmative.

^{14/} The Eleventh Circuit certified the following question to this Court in <u>Davis v. Pyrofax Gas Corp.</u>, 753 F.2d 928, 930 (11th Cir. 1985):

Prior to the April 25, 1984 revision of Florida's long-arm statute, was a nonresident manufacturer or or wholesaler of a product subject to the jurisdiction of the Florida courts where (1) the manufacturer or wholesaler engages in business activities in Florida, and (2) the product was purchased in another state and brought into Florida by the purchaser, and (3) the product caused injury to the purchaser in Florida?

We do not read the statute as requiring that the specific item purchased by the plaintiff elsewhere and brought by him into Florida be brought in through the ordinary course of commerce. We find that the connection requirement is satisfied by the defendants' business activities in Florida. If a defendant has a relationship with Florida such that it is amenable to suit in Florida by a person who purchased its product in Florida, there is no logical reason to prohibit a plaintiff who purchased the same product elsewhere and was injured by it in Florida from maintaining an action in Florida. A manufacturer or wholesaler that avails itself of the privilege of conducting solicitation activities and promoting or distributing its product line within the State of Florida should be amenable to a suit in Florida by one whose injury is occasioned by the use in Florida of the corporation's product purchased out of the state. (emphasis added)

> Davis, supra, 492 So.2d at 104615/

In this case, the three elements of the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit in <u>Davis</u> are satisfied: (1) Defendant was engaged in asbestos-related business activities in Florida during Mr. Kerness's exposure years; (2) part of the defendant's product—inhaled asbestos fibers—were brought into Florida in Mr. Kerness's lungs; and (3) the asbestos fibers injured Mr. Kerness in Florida because no injury occurred until he developed an asbestos—related injury or disease in the state. Therefore, the assertion of personal jurisdiction over Fibreboard is within the confines of the long-arm statute and connexity as viewed by this Court.

^{15/} This Court recognized a direct conflict between the District Courts of Appeals on the restrictive interpretation of connexity. In <u>Davis</u>, the Court specifically agreed with the district court's analysis in <u>Kravitz</u> thereby rejecting the analysis and restrictive holding in <u>General Tire & Rubber Co. v. Hickory Springs Mfg. Co.</u>, 388 So.2d 264 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). <u>See</u>, <u>Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, 492 So.2d at 1045.

See also, Shoei Safety Helmet Corp. v. Conlee, 409 So.2d 39 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)^{16/}; Kravitz v. Gebrueder Pletscher Druck-Gasswaremfabrik, supra, 442 So.2d at 987 (applying the Shoei rational to pre-amendment §48.193(1)(f)(2) Fla. Stat. (1981)).

C. ASSERTING PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER FIBREBOARD UNDER PRESENT AMENDED 48.193 WHICH DOES NOT REQUIRE CONNEXITY IS NOT ONLY CONSISTENT WITH FLORIDA FLORIDA STATUTES AND JUDICIAL INTERPRETATIONS BUT IS CONSTITUTIONALLY PROPER

A. This Court in <u>Venetian Salami Co. v. Parthenais</u>, 554 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1989), resolved that in order to obtain jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant, the claimant must fulfill two requirements. First, plaintiff must allege

In the present case, Fibreboard's products distributed outside of Florida injured Mr. Kerness in Florida. The fact that Fibreboard sold identical products in Florida at the same time Mr. Kerness was exposed subjects Fibreboard to suit in Florida under the <u>Shoei</u> rationale as contemplated by <u>Davis</u>.

^{16/} In <u>Shoei</u>, the plaintiff sued the manufacturer of a defective motorcycle helmet. The particular helmet had been sold to an Ohio distributor, then sent to a Florida retailer which sold it to the plaintiff. The manufacturer also sold similar helmets directly to Florida distributors. The Court found sufficient connexity even though the manufacturer had not sold <u>that</u> helmet in Florida.

[[]W]e do not believe that Section 48.181 was intended to permit a manufacturer to promote and sell its products in Florida and be subject to the jurisdiction of Florida courts only when it sells directly to a Florida enterprise and be immune from jurisdiction merely because it sold the particular allegedly defective product to a foreign corporation who in turn sold it to a Florida retailer.

Shoei, supra, 409 So.2d at 41
n. 4

sufficient facts to comply with the requirements of the applicable Florida long-arm statute. Second, jurisdiction must satisfy federal due process concerns of "minimum contacts" under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. Venetian, supra, 554 So.2d at 502. If the complaint brings an action within the scope of one of Florida's long-arm statutes, and alleges "minimum contacts," then the plaintiff meets both elements of the two-step test. 17/ These allegations may then be contested by the defendant only through a specific procedure outlined in Venetian:

Initially, the plaintiff may seek to obtain jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant by pleading the basis for service in the language of the statute without pleading the supporting facts.

* * By itself, the filing of a motion to dismiss on grounds of lack of jurisdiction over the person does nothing more than raise the legal sufficiency of the pleadings. * * A defendant wishing to contest the allegations of the complaint concerning jurisdiction or to raise a contention of minimum contacts must file affidavits in support of his position. The burden is then placed upon the plaintiff to prove by affidavit the basis upon which jurisdiction may be obtained. (emphasis added) (citations omitted)

<u>Venetian</u>, <u>supra</u>, 554 So.2d at 502

Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants have, during the period of 1943, and through and including the present, and at all times material to this cause of action, maintained sufficient contact with the State of Florida to subject them to the jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Florida Statute 48.181 and/or 48.193.

¶4, Pg. 4, Complaint

^{17/} The Complaint provided:

While Fibreboard's motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction contests the allegations of Kerness's Complaint, Pg. 18, n. 11, Fibreboard's Initial Brief, this merely "raise[s] the legal sufficiency of the pleadings." Venetian, supra. No affidavits were filed in support of their position in the proceedings Thus, Fibreboard has failed to comply with the proper below. procedure for challenging a complaint as set forth in Venetian. Fibreboard argues that "minimum contacts" requirements are not satisfied in this case and that they were not involved in purposeful activity in the State of Florida, Pgs. 21-22, Fibreboard's Initial Brief. However, these arguments are not properly before this Court. Affidavits should have been filed in the trial court in support of these contentions, offering Plaintiffs an opportunity to respond with counter-affidavits. Venetian, supra, 554 So.2d at 502. These issues of fact can generally be resolved by the trial court based on affidavits alone, however, should the affidavits appear irreconcilable, "the trial court will have to hold a limited evidentiary hearing in order to determine the jurisdiction issue." Id. at 503. 18/

B. Had affidavits been filed, the trial court could have examined the constitutional challenge to the long-arm statute now raised by Fibreboard. There are two major concerns in any case where jurisdiction is sought over a nonresident defendant. First, that "minimum contacts" exist between the nonresident

^{18/} In <u>Venetian</u>, affidavits had been filed by both parties. This Court found them to be irreconcilable and remanded the jurisdictional issue to the trial court with directions to hold an evidentiary hearing.

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